FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/3/2021 1:13 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/3/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 535581

99545-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOUGLASS PROPERTIES II, LLC.,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF OLYMPIA,

Respondents.

APPELLANT DOUGLASS PROPERTIES II, LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

GROFF MURPHY, PLLC Michael J. Murphy, WSBA #11132 300 East Pine Street Seattle, WA 98122 Ph. 206-628-9500 Fx. 206-628-9506

Email: mmurphy@groffmurphy.com

William John Crittenden, WSBA #22033 12345 Lake City Way NE #306 Seattle, WA 98125-5401 Ph. 206-361-5972

Email: bill@billcrittenden.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Douglass Properties II, LLC (Douglass) seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Douglass seeks review of the *Published Opinion* in *Douglass Properties II, LLC v. City of Olympia*, No. 53558-1-II, dated February 2, 2021 ("*Opinion*"). **Appendix A**.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether this Court's opinion in *City of Olympia v. Drebick*, 156 Wn.2d 289, 26 P.3d 802 (2006) required the Hearing Examiner to make findings of fact as to whether the impact fee was, in fact, roughly proportionate, *not* whether the fee schedules were "clearly erroneous."
- B. Whether the *Opinion* erroneously concluded that impact fees authorized Chap. 82.02 RCW are "outside the scope" of *Koontz v. Johns River Water Management District*, 570 U.S. 595 (2013).
- C. Whether the agency has the burden to prove the proportionality of its demand for impact fees where the burden of proof for similar Chap. 82.02 exactions is on the agency under *Isla Verde Int'l Holdings v. City of Camas*, 146 Wn.2d 740, 751, 49 P.3d 867 (2002).
- D. Whether the independent fee calculation authorized by RCW 82.02.060(5)(6) is optional, *not* a mandatory administrative remedy.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Douglass Properties II, LLC ("Douglass") seeks review of the *Opinion* which affirmed the *Decision Denying Appeal* issued by the Olympia Hearing Examiner ("*Decision*"). The Hearing Examiner's *Decision* upheld the respondent City of Olympia's demand for roughly \$167,580 in traffic impact fees of as a condition of the City's issuance of a building permit for Douglass' new mini storage warehouse in Olympia.

Douglass proved that a proportionate impact fee was no more than \$48,179.93, and that the City's figure (\$167,580) was based on erroneous assumptions and a lack of data about the impacts of mini-storage warehouses when the City's impact fee schedule was adopted. But the Hearing Examiner failed to make the findings of fact on proportionality as required by *City of Olympia v. Drebick*, 156 Wn.2d 289, 26 P.3d 802 (2006).

Instead, the Hearing Examiner applied the wrong standard of review and wrong burden of proof to the wrong question, upholding the excessive fee based on findings that the City's impact fee schedules were not "clearly erroneous" when they were adopted. CP 42.

A. The City's authority to impose any impact fees is a function of state statutes and federal constitutional law.

Prior to the 1990 amendments to RCW 82.02.020 et seq., local governments had no authority under state law to impose impact fees as a

condition of development approval. *See Isla Verde Int'l Holdings v. City of Camas*, 146 Wn.2d 740, 753 n.9, 49 P.3d 867 (2002); Laws of 1990, 1st Ex. Sess.. Ch. 17, § 42. The 1990 Growth Management Act (GMA) amended Chap. 82.02 RCW to allow counties and cities to impose traffic impact fees under certain conditions. RCW 82.02.020. Specifically, traffic impact fees:

(b) Shall not exceed a proportionate share of the costs of system improvements that are reasonably related to the new development; ...

RCW 82.02.050(4).

These nexus and proportionality requirements are essentially the same as the constitutional *Nollan/Dolan*¹ standard for exactions analysis. For purposes of this case there is no significant difference between the statutory and constitutional standards: both require impact fees to be roughly proportionate to the impact of the development.

Whether or not the nexus and proportionality requirements in RCW 82.02.050(4) are also constitutionally-required by the *Nollan/Dolan* doctrine was debated by this Court in 2006 in *City of Olympia v. Drebick*. In that case a majority of this court noted that (in 2006) the United States Supreme Court had not yet extended the *Nollan/Dolan* doctrine to impact fees. 156 Wn.2d at 302. But in 2013, the United States Supreme Court

3

¹ Nollan v. California Coastal Comm'n, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141, 97 L.Ed.2d 677 (1987); Dolan v. City of Tigard, 512 U.S. 374, 114 S.Ct. 2309, 129 L.Ed.2d 304 (1994).

clearly stated that impact fees are subject to *Nollan/Dolan*, and must be roughly proportionate to the impact of a proposed development *Koontz v. Johns River Water Management Dist.*, 570 U.S. 595, 606 (2013). The *Koontz* dissent confirmed that *Nollan/Dolan* now applies to all sorts of exactions and permit conditions:

By applying *Nollan* and *Dolan* to permit conditions requiring monetary payments—with no express limitation except as to taxes—the majority extends the Takings Clause, with its notoriously "difficult" and "perplexing" standards, into the very heart of local land-use regulation and service delivery.

570 U.S. at 626 (Kagen, J., dissenting). The *Koontz* dissent specifically noted that **Washington's** impact fee system "now must meet *Nollan* and *Dolan's* nexus and proportionality tests." *Id.* at 626-27 (citing *Drebick*, 156 Wn.2d at 305). However, because RCW 82.02.050(4) already required both a nexus and proportionality, *Koontz* did *not* change Washington law.

RCW 82.02.070(5) requires local governments to provide an appeal for impact fees at which "the impact fee may be modified upon a determination that it is proper to do so based on principles of fairness."

RCW 82.02.060(5) and (6) require local governments to allow consideration of unusual circumstances as well as studies and data provided by the developer in determining the amount of fees. Nothing in Chap 82.02 RCW, however, suggests that RCW 82.02.060(6) creates a mandatory

administrative remedy or a precondition to appeal under RCW 82.02.070(5).

B. Douglass properly appealed the City's impact fee calculation to the Hearing Examiner.

In 2017 Douglass applied for a building permit for a mini storage warehouse facility in the City of Olympia. The City conditioned approval of the permit on Douglass' payment of \$167,580 in traffic impact fees. CP 20-21; CR 1-2. This figure was based on erroneous assumptions, and grossly over-estimated the traffic impacts of mini-storage warehouses.²

As required by OMC 15.04.090(C), Douglass first requested review of the impact fee by the Director, who upheld the City's calculation, and directed Douglass to appeal to the Hearing Examiner. CR 33, 45.³ Several months after Douglass' administrative appeal was filed, the City produced a staff report that argued, for the first time, that Douglass was required to submit an independent fee calculation, and that his failure to do so was an "election" to have the fee determined under the fee schedule. CR 27-32.

² Douglass declined to request an independent fee calculation because he correctly deduced that the City would reject any such calculation. In its hearing brief the City indicated that it would not have accepted any independent fee calculation because there is "no dispute" that the project is "properly classified as a mini-warehouse" under the schedule. CR 258.

³ "CR" refers to the Certified Record filed by the City on or about December 17, 2018, which was transmitted to this Court as an exhibit. *See* CP 247-249.

C. Douglass proved that a proportionate impact fee was no more than \$48,179.93.

Even though the City had the burden of proof as a matter of state law, Douglass incurred the expense of proving that the City's impact fee methodology was flawed with respect to three of the factors used to calculate the fee, and that a proportionate impact fee was no more than \$48,179.93. CP 22. The City focused its evidence on how and why the City developed and adopted its standard impact fee schedules. CP 29-24. Based on several errors of law the Hearing Examiner failed to make any findings of fact as to whether the City's impact fee of \$167,580 was *in fact* roughly proportionate to the impact of the Douglass project.

The City has never attempted to challenge Douglass' evidence that a proportionate impact fee is no more than \$48,179.93. *See Reply Br.* at 3-4. This Court can assume, *arguendo*, that a proportionate impact fee for the Douglass project would be no more than \$48,179.93. Such a fee is clearly not "proportionate" to the fee of \$167,580 demanded by the City.

D. The Hearing Examiner failed to make findings of fact, applied the wrong standard of review to the wrong question, and erroneously shifted the burden of proof to Douglass.

Both RCW 82.02.070 and federal constitutional law required the City to prove that the impact fees demanded by the City were roughly proportionate to the actual impacts of the Douglass project. Furthermore, this Court's decision in *City of Olympia v. Drebick* clearly states that that

the Hearing Examiner's function is to make findings of fact as to whether the City's impact fee is proportionate to the impact of the development:

The hearing examiner's inquiry should have ended with his factual findings that "the Drebick fee is proportionate to and reasonably related to the demand for new capacity improvements considered as a whole" and that "those improvements considered as a whole will benefit the Drebick development."

Drebick, 156 Wn.2d at 307.

But the Hearing Examiner held that Douglass had to prove that the City's adoption of the impact fee schedule was "clearly erroneous," and upheld the City's erroneous assumptions under the "clearly erroneous" standard. CP 36-38. For example, the City assumed that the average vehicle trip to a mini-storage warehouse in Olympia would be 5.1 miles, an absurd assumption given the size of the City and the existence of five (5) other mini-storage warehouses within three (3) miles of the Douglass project. CR 344; RP 110. The City's own expert admitted that there was **no data** on length for mini warehouses, and that City simply assumed that mini-storage warehouses have the same impacts as commercial warehouses:

Q. [I]t is correct that for lack of data, you simply took the 5.1 miles from the warehouse classification and slapped it on mini warehouse. Is that what the evidence shows?

A. That was our assumption.

RP 166. Faced with uncontroverted evidence that the City's trip length assumption was excessive, the Hearing Examiner upheld the City's

assumption based on the total lack of data when the impact fee schedule was adopted. CP 38. The hearing examiner rejected Douglass' other two challenges to the impact fee for the same erroneous reasons. CP 37-38.

The City blamed Douglass for not requesting an optional independent fee calculation under OMC 15.04.050. CR 27-31, 243, 253-54, 257-58. Douglass explained that the independent fee calculation was *optional* (for both the City and applicant), and that the City had never argued that the independent fee calculation was an administrative remedy. CR 204-205, 377-78. Nonetheless, the Hearing Examiner erroneously ruled that the lack of an independent fee calculation from Douglass prevented the Hearing Examiner from performing its function under *Drebick*: to make findings on proportionality as required by RCW 82.02.050(4). CP 39-40.

E. Procedural History.

The superior court affirmed without explaining its reasoning. CP 316-318. Douglass then appealed to Division II of the Court of Appeals, which issued the *Opinion* affirming.

V. ARGUMENT

Under RCW 82.02.070(5) and *Drebick*, *supra*, Douglass was entitled to a hearing at which the City was required to prove that the impact fee was roughly proportionate to the impact of the project. After *Koontz*, *supra*, Douglass was entitled to the same determination of proportionality

under the Nollan/Dolan doctrine.

But the Hearing Examiner failed to provide that hearing, and the City was never required to carry its burden of proof. The Court of Appeals *Opinion* holds, contrary to *Drebick* and the statutes, that Douglass was only permitted to challenge the legislative adoption of the impact fee schedule under the "clearly erroneous" standard. *Opinion* at 15-16. The Court of Appeals purported to follow *Drebick* in making this determination despite the fact that the phrase "clearly erroneous" never appears in *Drebick* even once, in either the majority or dissent.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3) because the *Opinion* is contrary to both *Drebick* and *Koontz*. The Court should also grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' interpretation of Chap 82.02 RCW, including its analysis of the burden of proof and the independent fee calculation are of substantial importance to local jurisdictions and developers throughout the state.

A. The *Opinion* is directly contrary to this Court's opinion in *City of Olympia v. Drebick* (2006), which required the Hearing Examiner to make findings of fact as to whether the impact fee was roughly proportionate.

The impact fee statute (i) requires impact fees to be proportionate to the impact of the new development, and (ii) requires the City to provide an hearing to challenge the proportionality of any fee. RCW 82.02.050(4); -

.070(5). Where a permit applicant demands a hearing on the proportionality of an impact fee the hearing examiner's job is to make findings of fact as to whether the impact fee is proportionate as required by RCW 82.02.050. That is clearly shown by this Court's decision in *Drebick*, *supra*.

In *Drebick*, the developer of an office building appealed the City of Olympia's impact fee demand to the City's hearing examiner. 156 Wn.2d at 293. The hearing examiner made dozens of findings of fact about the whether the City's impact fee was proportionate as required by RCW 82.02.050, including a specific finding that "the Drebick fee is proportionate to and reasonably related to the demand for new capacity improvements considered as a whole." *Id.* at 305. As this Court noted, these findings established that the fee complied with the statute. *Id.* at 306.

But the Hearing Examiner went further, concluding that local governments were required to make "individualized assessments of the new development's direct impact on each improvement planned in a service area." *Id.* at 293. The superior court reversed the hearing examiner, and then the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court, agreeing with the hearing examiner and relying, in part, on the *Nollan/Dolan* doctrine to deduce the intent of the 1990 legislature. *City of Olympia v. Drebick*, 119 Wn. App. 774, 785, 83 P.3d 443 (2004). This Court reversed, primarily on grounds of statutory interpretation. 156 Wn.2d at 293. This Court upheld

the City's fee calculations, noting that the hearing examiner's findings established that the impact fee was proportionate:

The hearing examiner's inquiry should have ended with his factual findings that "the Drebick fee is proportionate to and reasonably related to the demand for new capacity improvements considered as a whole" and that "those improvements considered as a whole will benefit the Drebick development."

156 Wn.2d at 307. In sum, this Court has clearly stated that the hearing examiner's function in an impact fee appeal is to make findings of fact as to whether the fee at issue is, in fact, proportionate to the impact. The Hearing Examiner failed to make the findings of fact required by the statute, and the Court of Appeals affirmed that failure to follow *Drebick*.

Apart from noting that *Drebick* incorrectly predicted that the outcome of *Koontz*, *supra*, (erroneously assuming that *Nollan/Dolan* would not extend to impact fees), *see* section (B), Douglass does *not* challenge *Drebick* at all. On the contrary, Douglass seeks review in this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) precisely because the Court of Appeals failed to follow *Drebick* on the issue of whether the hearing examiner was supposed to make findings of fact on proportionality.

The *Opinion* ignores the only part of *Drebick* that really matters in this case: the part that says the hearing examiner is supposed to make findings of fact. That is undoubtedly because the City not only ignored that

part of *Drebick* in its briefing, but also stuffed its brief with misleading, erroneous arguments about *Drebick*.

Contrary to the City's obfuscation, Douglass is *not* making the same legal argument as the developer in *Drebick*:

- Douglass has *not* argued that an individualized assessment of the impact on planned improvements is required by either RCW 82.02.050 or *Nollan/Dolan*;
- Douglass is *not* challenging the City's decision to designate the entire City as a single service area under RCW 82.02.060(7); and
- Douglass does *not* care what particular traffic improvements his impact fee will be spent on.

Furthermore, Douglass has explained that, *for purposes of this case*, there is no significant difference between the statutory and constitutional standards: both RCW 82.02.050(4) and *Nollan/Dolan* require impact fees to be roughly proportionate to the impact of the development.

Douglass argues that an impact fee that, is three and a half times larger than the actual impact of his project due to flawed methodology is *not* proportionate under *either* the statute *or Nollan/Dolan*. The City has never even argued otherwise.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the *Opinion* conflicts directly with *Drebick*, *supra*, by failing to require the Hearing Examiner to make findings of fact on proportionality.

B. The *Opinion* conflicts with the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *Koontz v. Johns River Water Management District* (2013) by erroneously holding that impact fees under RCW 82.02.050 *et seq.* are "legislatively prescribed" fees and therefore "outside the scope" of *Koontz*.

The Court of Appeals agreed with the City that impact fees under RCW 82.02.050 et seq. are "legislatively prescribed" fees "outside the scope" of *Koontz. Opinion* at 12. *Drebick* (2006) notes a distinction between fees in lieu of possessory exactions, such as RCW 82.02.020, and "legislatively prescribed" fees. 156 Wn.2d at 302. But it is unclear whether that distinction still exists after *Koontz* (2013). The *Koontz* majority ignored the alleged distinction between "legislative" and "adjudicative" fees, recognizing only the distinction between impact fees (monetary exactions) and taxes. 570 U.S. at 615. Only the Koontz *dissent* mentions a distinction between "legislative" and "adjudicative" fees, observing that "[m]aybe today's majority accepts that distinction; or then again, maybe not." 570 U.S. at 628 (Kagen, J., dissenting).

After determining that the distinction still exists after *Koontz*, the Court of Appeals assumed, without any analysis, that impact fees under RCW 82.02.050 *et seq* are "legislatively prescribed" fees not subject to

Nollan/Dolan. Opinion at 13. Even if "legislatively prescribed" fees remain outside the scope of Nollan/Dolan after Koontz, the Court of Appeals' assumption that impact fees under RCW 82.02.050 et seq. are "legislatively prescribed" fees is erroneous.

The Court of Appeals ignored the substantial discretion granted by to local officials in determining the amount of fees actually imposed on a particular project. That discretion makes such fees "adjudicative" (or ad hoc) fees. Although the Olympia city council "legislatively" adopted the City's impact fee schedules, the actual impact fees imposed by the City's development director are adjudicative fees, subject to *Nollan/Dolan*, because of the significant discretion granted to the City by RCW 82.02.050 et seq. The statute does not require, or even allow, the City to rely on the presumed validity its legislatively adopted schedules. Local governments are required to consider unique circumstances in calculating the impact fees on particular projects when those fees are imposed on a particular project:

Local impact fee ordinances...

- (5) Shall allow the county, city, or town imposing the impact fees to adjust the standard impact fee at the time the fee is imposed to consider unusual circumstances in specific cases to ensure that impact fees are imposed fairly;
- (6) Shall include a provision for calculating the amount of the fee to be imposed on a particular development that permits consideration of studies and data submitted by the developer to adjust the amount of the fee;

RCW 82.02.060. The statute also requires local governments to provide a hearing process in which impact fees may be modified "based on principles of fairness." RCW 82.02.070(5). The discretion afforded by these provisions demonstrates that impact fees are *adjudicative* fees, subject to *Nollan/Dolan* under *Koontz*, not "legislatively prescribed" uniform fees.

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