# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/12/2021 4:20 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99545-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WA, DIVISION II No. 535581-II)

#### DOUGLASS PROPERTIES II, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

#### CITY OF OLYMPIA,

Respondent,

# RESPONDENT CITY OF OLYMPIA'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey S. Myers
Law, Lyman, Daniel, Kamerrer &
Bogdanovich, P.S.
P.O. Box 11880
Olympia, WA 98508
Phone: (360) 754-3480
E-mail: jmyers@lldkb.com

Attorney for Respondent City of Olympia

#### **

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

We note as an initial matter that if we accepted this argument it would be very easy for land-use permitting officials to evade the limitations of Nollan and Dolan. Because the government need only provide a permit applicant with one alternative that satisfies the nexus and rough proportionality standards, a permitting authority wishing to exact an easement could simply give the owner a choice of either surrendering an easement or making a payment equal to the easement's value. Such so-called "in lieu of" fees are utterly commonplace, Rosenberg, The Changing Culture of American Land Use Regulation: Paying for Growth with Impact Fees, 59 S.M.U. L.Rev. 177, 202-203 (2006), and they are functionally equivalent to other types of land use exactions. For that reason and those that follow, we reject respondent's argument and hold that so-called "monetary exactions" must satisfy the nexus and rough proportionality requirements of Nollan and Dolan.

Koontz, 570 U.S. at 612, 133 S.Ct. at 2599.

Koontz therefore only dealt with "so-called" monetary exactions "in lieu of" a dedication or onsite mitigation measures. It did not deal with fees

imposed pursuant to a generally applicable, legislatively adopted formula, such as those in RCW 82.02.050 – .090. *Koontz* recognized that it does not apply to legislatively adopted fees, stating:

This case therefore does not affect the ability of governments to impose property taxes, user fees, and similar laws and regulations that may impose financial burdens on property owners.

Koontz, 570 U.S. at 615, 133 S.Ct. at 2601.

## 3. <u>Courts have refused to apply *Nolan/Dolan* to legislatively prescribed impact fees, both before and after *Koontz*.</u>

The Court of Appeals below correctly distinguished the Supreme Court decision in *Koontz*, and correctly observed that no courts have accepted the petitioner's invitation to apply its holding to legislatively adopted, generally applicable impact fees such as those prescribed in the GMA and Olympia's ordinance. See, Opinion at 11-12. Indeed, every appellate court considering such a case has rejected the application of case specific nexus and proportionality analysis under *Nollan/Dolan/Koontz* to such impact fees. Opinion at 12, n.7, citing *Am. Furniture Warehouse Co. v. Town of Gilbert*, 245 Ariz. 156, 163, 425 P.3d 1099 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2018); *Better Hous. for Long Beach v. Newsom*, 452 F. Supp. 3d 921, 932 (C.D. Cal. 2020); *Dabbs v. Anne Arundel Cnty.*, 458 Md. 331, 357, 182 A.3d 798 (2018)

Prior to *Koontz*, numerous courts held that the site specific nexus/proportionality applied only to adjudicative exactions imposed on a

project basis to mitigate project specific impacts. *Drebick* falls into this category. Douglass attempts to apply *Nollan-Dolan* analysis to demand proportionality between legislatively prescribed GMA impact fees and individual projects, a proposition *Drebick* rejected. *Drebick* distinguished between monetary exactions "in lieu" of mitigation or dedication, which were at issue in *Koontz*, from GMA impact fees at issue here, stating:

For the proposition that the *Nollan–Dolan* standard should apply to GMA impact fees, the dissent inaptly cites decisions from other jurisdictions applying that standard to *direct* mitigation fees of the type referred to in RCW 82.02.020 (that is, to fees in lieu of possessory exactions), not to the legislatively prescribed development fees at issue here.

Drebick, 156 Wn.2d at 302.

The Court of Appeals Opinion below joined numerous other courts rejecting the application of *Nollan* and *Dolan* to legislatively prescribed fees. Washington courts followed *Drebick's* distinction between legislatively authorized GMA impact fees, which are not subject to *Nollan/Dolan* analysis, and fees "in lieu of possessory exactions", which are. *City of Fed. Way v. Town & Country Real Estate, LLC*, 161 Wn.App. 17, 44–45, 252 P.3d 382 (2011).

No lower federal or state court has ever applied *Nollan* and *Dolan's* individualized, heightened scrutiny to legislatively adopted impact fees, which are traditionally afforded greater deference. "It has long been

axiomatic that legislative and quasi-legislative enactments enjoy a significantly higher degree of judicial deference than individualized adjudications." *Homebuilders Ass'n of Metropolitan Portland v. Tualatin Hills Park and Recreation Dist.*, 62 P.3d 404, 410 (Or. App. 2003) (citing *Bi-Metallic Co. v. Colorado*, 239 U.S. 441, 445 (1915); *FCC v. Beach Communications, Inc.*, 508 U.S. 307, 315 (1993)).<sup>5</sup>

Appellants failed to cite a single case applying nexus and proportionality analysis to legislatively adopted fees under *Nollan*, *Dolan*<sup>6</sup> or *Koontz*, even in light of *Koontz*' holding in 2013 that it applies to "monetary" exactions. This is so because it is limited to ad hoc exactions where an adjudicative condition would be unconstitutional. This holding does not apply to legislatively adopted fees, such as the TIFs here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Besides *Drebick*, which has already been discussed, numerous other courts have refused to apply *Nollan/Dolan* to legislatively adopted fees. *See also San Remo Hotel, LP v. City and County of San Francisco*, 41 P.3d 87, 103 (Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 2002) (citing *Santa Monica Beach, Ltd. v. Superior Court*, 968 P.2d 993, 966 (Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1999) (quoting *Dolan*, 512 U.S. at 385) (... The most deferential review of land use decisions appears to be for those that pertain to 'essentially legislative determinations' that do not require any physical conveyance of property'")); *Rogers Machinery v. Washington County*, 45 P.3d 966, 973 (Or. App. 2002) ("[W]hen the government regulates property without physically occupying it, the Takings Clause is much less protective of the interests of the property owner and much more deferential to the public interests served."); *Krupp v. Breckenridge Sanitation Dist.*, 19 P.3d 687, 696 (Colo. 2001); *Home Builders Ass'n of Central Arizona v. City of Scottsdale*, 930 P.2d 993, 1000 (Az. 1997); *McCarthy v. City of Leawood*, 894 P.2d 836 (Kan. 1995); *West Linn Corp. Park, L.L.C. v. City of West Linn*, 240 P.3d 29, 45 (2010); and *Loyola Marymount Univ. v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist.*, 53 Cal. Rptr.2d 424, 434 (1996)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Dolan* itself distinguishes between constitutionally valid legislative determinations and ad hoc "adjudicative determinations" to impose individual conditions on a permit. *Dolan v. City of Tigard*, 512 U.S. at 385, 114 S. Ct. at, 2316.

The first case to consider such a claim after *Koontz* was *Dabbs v*. Anne Arundel County, 182 A.2d 798 (Md. April 10, 2018) where Maryland's highest court held that area wide impact fees similar to those assessed under the GMA are not subject to *Nollan/Dolan* takings analysis. *Dabbs* rejected precisely the argument advanced by Douglass – that *Nollan* and *Dolan* analysis applies to the County's impact fee ordinance because of *Koontz. Dabbs*, 182 A.2d at 807-08. The Court there held:

We re-affirm our holding in *Waters Landing [Ltd. Ptnrsp. v. Montgomery County*, 650 A.2d 712 (1994)], and, thus, conclude that *Koontz* is inapplicable to the Impact Fee Ordinance in this case. <u>Impact fees imposed by legislation applicable on an area-wide basis are *not* subject to *Nollan* and *Dolan* scrutiny.</u>

*Dabbs*, 182 A.2d at 812-13. (Emphasis added).

Arizona also rejects applying individual nexus/proportionality to generally applicable, legislatively adopted impact fees in light of *Koontz*. In *American Furniture Warehouse Co. v. Town of Gilbert*, 425 P.3d 1099 (2018), the Arizona Court of Appeals held *Nollan/Dolan* inapplicable to generally applicable, legislatively imposed traffic signal System Development Fees. *Am. Furniture Warehouse* held that *Koontz* did not change the result:

Koontz held that, when applicable, Nollan/Dolan provides the proper analysis when the government conditions issuance of a permit either upon the payment of a fee or upon the transfer of property. Id. at 619, 133 S.Ct. 2586. What

Koontz did not do was replace, negate or (given the facts) even address *Dolan*'s legislative/adjudicative dichotomy discussed in *City of Scottsdale*. As a result, *Koontz* did not hold that *Dolan* applied to generally applicable legislative development fees like those imposed in the traffic signal SDF. *Id.* at 614 n.2, 617, 133 S.Ct. 2586 ... *Koontz* did not abrogate the legislative/adjudicative dichotomy as AFW suggests.

Am. Furniture Warehouse Co., 425 P.3d at 1106.7

In contrast to these cases, Douglass cites no cases that have applied *Nollan/Dolan* to generally applicable, legislatively adopted impact fees following the *Koontz* decision. This court should follow *Dabbs*, *American Furniture Warehouse* and *BIA—Bay Area* in rejecting this argument.

# C. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY REJECTED APPELLANT'S FACTUAL CONTENTIONS AND UPHELD THE HEARING EXAMINER RULING.

Douglass claims that it "proved" that a fee of no more than \$48,198.73 is warranted based on site specific evidence and its own disagreement with the formula used by the Council to legislatively determine the City's fee schedule. Brief at 19. The Examiner did not make any such finding and correctly applied the standard of review mandated by City Ordinance, OMC 18.75.040. Further, his ruling expressly disagreed with Appellant's factual contentions.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This same result was reached within the Ninth Circuit by *Building Industry Association—Bay Area v. City of Oakland*, 289 F.Supp.3d 1056 (N.D. Cal. 2018), affirmed, 775 Fed.Appx. 348 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2019) (takings claim based on *Koontz* was precluded against a legislative act, rather than an adjudicative land-use determination).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Douglass contends that the City has not argued a failure to exhaust administrative remedies. Petition at 19. This is not correct. The City repeatedly has

### 1. The Court Properly Found That The Appellant Bears The Burden Of Proof and does not conflict with *Isla Verde*.

Douglass makes the astonishing and legally incorrect assertion that the City had the burden of proof in considering the applicant's appeal. The Court of Appeals correctly distinguished *Isla Verde Int'l Holdings v. City of Camas*, 146 Wn.2d 740, 49 P.3d 867 (2002) because it concerned whether an open space dedication within a plat met the requirements of RCW 82.02.020 and *Nollan/Dolan* on an individual project basis. It did not concern legislatively imposed GMA impact fees. Opinion at 13-14.

The Opinion noted that Appellant's argument rested on the faulty premise that GMA impact fees were subject to *Nollan-Dolan* scrutiny, which was in conflict with *Drebick*. Cases under RCW 82.02.020, including *Isla Verde*, do not apply to GMA impact fees. Opinion at 14. Appellant refuses to recognize the distinction between fees "in lieu" of mitigation or dedication and legislatively imposed GMA impact fees. This misunderstanding of the law pervades Appellant's position.

argued that the failure to submit an IFC prior to obtaining a building permit forecloses the ability to create an IFC during an appeal. The City made this argument consistently to the Examiner, AR 243, 257-58, as well as before the Superior Court. CP 29-301. Olympia's Ordinance does not permit a permittee to construct an *ad hoc* IFC for the first time in an appeal to the Hearing Examiner. OMC 15.04.050(C).

Secondly, Washington cases involving challenges to GMA impact fees places the burden of proof on appellants, not upon the City, consistent with the deference due and presumption of validity for adopted ordinances. Appellant again ignores adverse cases. In *Wellington River Hollow LLC v*. *King County*, 121 Wn.App. 224, 54 P.3d 213 (2002), the Court of Appeals held that the Appellant had the burden of proof, holding the opposite:

Wellington contends that the \$1,398 per unit school impact fee assessment violates its constitutional rights. RCW 36.70C.130(1)(f). It has the burden of showing such a violation. RCW 36.70C.130(1)(f); Ramm v. City of Seattle, 66 Wn.App. 15, 19, 830 P.2d 395 (1992).

Wellington River Hollow, 121 Wn.App. at 238. (Emphasis added).

Finally, as cited by the Court of Appeals, the Hearing Examiner correctly followed the City's ordinance explicitly placing the burden of proof on the appellant. Opinion at 14. Appellant simply disregards law that is inconvenient to their position, instead relying on inapposite case law applying dedications under RCW 82.02.020. The Court of Appeals opinion correctly recognized the authority of the City under RCW 82.02.070 to adopt ordinances governing its administrative appeal process.

## 2. Douglass' Failure To Perform An Independent Fee Calculation Is Fatal To His Request To Reassess His Fees.

Appellant completely misinterprets the City's impact fee ordinance and its requirements to either elect the fee adopted by the City Council's Impact Fee Ordinance in Schedule D or to impose an alternative fee calculated through an IFC. Douglass is incorrect in asserting that the election not to use the IFC mechanism is irrelevant. In essence, he was asking the Examiner to disregard City ordinances regarding when and how an applicant must use IFCs under the ordinance and consider an untimely site specific fee calculation presented for the first time during the appeal to the Hearing Examiner. This demand is barred by the City's ordinances.

For the first time, the Petition now offers an explanation why no IFC was submitted, by falsely claiming that the City would not have accepted any IFC from the applicant because there was "no dispute" that the project is "properly classified as a mini-warehouse" under the schedule. Petition at 5, n.2 (citing CR 258). This misrepresents the City's statements below. The City argued below that the City's choice of whether to rely on its schedule or prepare its own IFC turns on whether the proposal falls within the categories in the schedule. CR 258. Since the storage proposal is indisputably a "mini-warehouse", the City did not prepare an IFC, but its choice did not foreclose Douglass submitting its own IFC. At no time did the City state that they would not accept an IFC or tell Douglass that he could do so for the first time on appeal to the Examiner. The City's expert testified that Douglass could have included its analysis in an IFC and it would have been considered. ROP 159. The petition misrepresents the

record and falsely states otherwise. Petition at 19. In the absence of an IFC, the City was required to impose the impact fee set forth in Schedule D. OMC 15.04.040(A).

# 3. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Rejected Douglass' Objections To The City Fee.

The Court of Appeals Opinion correctly upheld the Examiner's rejection of Appellant's substantive arguments. Opinion at 15-16. The City proved the validity of its fees via expert testimony by Don Samdahl, its staff report and studies supporting the adoption of its fee schedule that the TIF ordinance as rationally based, following the same methodology previously upheld in *Drebick*. ROP 149-160; AR 30, 118-120, 148-49.

The Examiner correctly rejected Appellant's factual arguments holding that 1) use of floor area was rationally based on the ITE manual; 2) the City did not err by failing to use a version of the ITE manual that did not exist when the Council adopted their impact fee schedule; 3) the applicant's anecdotal data on the number of new trips did not overcome the City's reliance on the ITE manual; and 4) that the trip length adjustments was based on valid available information and was not overcome by Appellant's intuitive and anecdotal evidence. AR 18-19.

D. THE CITY IS ENTITLED TO ITS REASONABLE ATTORNEYS FEES IN OPPOSING THE PETITION FOR REVIEW UNDER RCW 4.84.370.

Under RCW 4.84.370, a party who prevails before the City, in all

subsequent judicial proceedings and on appeal is entitled to an award of its

reasonable attorney's fees and costs.. The City of Olympia was awarded its

fees under RCW 4.84.370 as the prevailing party before the Court of

Appeals. The Court should deny the Petition for Review and award

attorney's fees incurred in opposition under RCW 4.84.370 and RAP 18.1.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Review because the Court of

Appeal decision is consistent with applicable case law and does not result

in violation of Appellant's rights. It does not meet the criteria for granting

review under RAP 13.4. Finally, the Court should award the City its

attorney's fees incurred in opposing the Petition under RCW 4.84.370.